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Figure 1:  General location (scale 1:25,000) 
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Summary 

Between May and November 2010 Archaeological Services and Consultancy Ltd carried out a 
watching brief at St Mary & St Giles Church, Stony Stratford, Milton Keynes during the 
construction of an extension to the church.  Little in the way of significant features, finds or 
deposits were observed, as the work entailed excavating through made/disturbed ground.  A 
few disarticulated human remains were uncovered, along with post-medieval pottery sherds 
including one sherd of 19th century ‘willow-pattern’ pottery, glass and tile fragments, clay 
pipe stems and animal bone fragments.     
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Between May and November 2010 Archaeological Services and Consultancy Ltd 
(ASC) carried out a watching brief at St Mary & St Giles Church, High Street, Stony 
Stratford, Milton Keynes.  The project was commissioned by Ratte & Kett Ltd on 
behalf of St Mary & St Giles Church, and was carried out  according to a project 
design prepared by ASC (Zeepvat 2010) following discussions with the 
Archaeological Officer, Milton Keynes Council (MKCAO).  The relevant planning 
application reference is 08/01222/4. 

 
1.2 Planning Background 

This watching brief was required under the terms of Planning Policy Guidance Note 
16 (PPG16), as a condition of planning permission for the development of the site. 

 
1.3 Archaeological Services & Consultancy Ltd 

ASC is an independent archaeological practice providing a full range of archaeological 
services including consultancy, field evaluation, mitigation and post-excavation 
studies, historic building recording and analysis.  ASC is recognised as a Registered 
Organisation by the Institute for Archaeologists and is also accredited ISO 9001, in 
recognition of its high standards and working practices. 

 
1.4 The Site  

1.4.1 Location & Description 
The site is situated in Stony Stratford in the administrative district of Milton 
Keynes, within the historic county of Buckinghamshire, and is centred on NGR 
SP 7869 4047 (Fig. 1).  It is located close to the centre of Stony Stratford, on 
the south-west side of the High Street at its junction with Church Street.  The 
proposed development site is on the north side of the church, within an area 
currently laid to grass and flower beds.  Access to the site is from Church 
Street. 
 

1.4.2 Geology & Topography 
The site is level and lies at an elevation of c.66m OD.  As it is within an urban 
area, soils have not been mapped in detail, though they are likely to belong to 
the Hanslope Association. These consist of “slowly permeable calcareous 
clayey soils, with some slowly permeable non-calcareous clayey soils” (Soil 
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Survey 1983, 411d).  The underlying geology comprises first terrace gravels 
(BGS 202). 
 

1.4.3 Proposed Development 

The proposed development comprises demolition of the existing boiler room, 
and construction of an extension to the church comprising a new boiler room, 
toilets and a hall (Fig. 3).  The footprint of the development covers c.95 sq. m. 
 
 

 

Figure 2:  Site plan (scale 1:1,250) 
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Figure 3:  Proposed development and previous archaeological work (scale 1:200) 
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2. Aims & Methods 

2.1 Aims 

In line with the project design, the aims of the project were: 

• To determine the location, extent, date, nature, condition, significance and quality 
of any surviving archaeological remains observed on site. 

• To ensure that the raft foundation for the extension is constructed as proposed, and 
the underlying archaeological remains are protected. 

 
2.2 Standards 

The work conformed to the project design, to the relevant sections of the Institute for 
Archaeologists’ Code of Conduct (IFA 2000) and Standard & Guidance Notes (IFA 
2001), and to the relevant sections of ASC’s own Operations Manual. 

 
2.3 Methods 

In line with the project design, the methods to be adopted for this project were: 

• Soil and overburden stripping under archaeological supervision; 
• The rapid investigation and recording of any archaeological features or deposits 

present, including adequate provision of both drawn and photographic records; 
• Subsoil stripping under archaeological supervision; 
• The examination of any service and foundation trenches and the subsequent 

recording of any exposed archaeological remains, including adequate provision of 
both drawn and photographic records; 

• Rapid examination of spoil-heaps for archaeological material; 
• A programme of post-fieldwork analysis, archiving, and publication. 

 
2.4 Constraints 

The works were carried out with full co-operation of the client and in line with the 
project design. No constraints were encountered.  
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3. Archaeological & Historical Background 

3.1 The following section provides a summary of the readily available archaeological and 
historical background to the development site and its environs.  The site lies within an 
area of archaeological and historical interest, and has the potential to reveal evidence 
of a range of periods. 

This section has been compiled with information from readily available sources. 
 
3.2 Prehistoric  (before 600BC) 

Stony Stratford and the wider area of Milton Keynes have been represented in the 
archaeological record as far back as the Mesolithic period, with flint and stone 
implements from the Ouse and Ouzel valleys and flints from the Bradwell Brook 
valley at Bancroft, c.3.5km east of Stony Stratford (Zeepvat 2002, 9). 

Evidence of settlement within this area appears from the Neolithic period onwards, 
with sites such as that discovered at Stacey Bushes, 3km south-east of Stony Stratford.  
Evidence of human activity in the Bronze Age is provided by ring ditches (ploughed 
out round barrows) found throughout the Ouse valley, the nearest being at Warren 
Farm, 1.5km east of the site (Green 1974).  An isolated find of a Bronze Age socketed 
axe is recorded from Stony Stratford (Croft & Mynard 1993, 7). 
 

3.3 Iron Age  (600BC-AD43) 

The Iron Age provides the most complete example of prehistoric settlement 
distribution in the Milton Keynes area.  Settlement is still largely related to the river 
valleys as before, though evidence of it has been found in a much wider range of 
topographic settings (Zeepvat 2002, 9).  Iron Age pottery has been found at Kiln Farm 
and close to the present bridge crossing the Ouse at Old Stratford. 
 

3.4 Roman  (AD43-c.450) 

During the Roman period the Milton Keynes area lay within the tribal canton of the 
Catuvellauni, with its capital at Verulamium (St Albans).  The major Roman road from 
London to Chester, later known as Watling Street, followed the same alignment as the 
present High Street, crossing the Ouse by a bridge or ford.  Roman activity within 
Stony Stratford is evident with the Roman road known as Watling Street, which passes 
through the centre of Stony Stratford, on the line of the present day High Street.  The 
river crossing appears to have had some religious significance, evidenced by quantities 
of Roman coins and some votive objects found by metal detectorists on land adjoining 
Buckingham Road, from the same general area from which the Old Stratford 
headdress, now in the British Museum, was recovered (Zeepvat 2002, 10). 
 

3.5 Saxon & Medieval (c.450-1500) 

The origins of the present settlement at Stony Stratford are not well understood.  It is 
not mentioned in the Domesday Survey (1086), and Brown (1987, 3) records that the 
earliest mentions of Stony Stratford place it in Northamptonshire (probably a 
confusion with Old Stratford, which may be the older settlement).  The present town, 
probably the Little Stratford referred to in the Eyre Roll of 1227, outgrew the original 
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settlement, taking its name, much in the same way that the name of Wolverton 
transferred from the older settlement to the new. 

Neither of the two manors at Stony Stratford is mentioned in the Domesday Book of 
1086.  The west side of the town was originally part of Calverton Manor, which is first 
recorded as a separate manor in 1257 and was sunbinfeudated by the Earls of Oxford. 
The east side of the town formed part of the manor of Wolverton, which ranked as a 
separate manor in the 16th century (VCH 1927, 479).  Hugh de Vere, Earl of Oxford 
and Lord of the Manor of Calverton, was granted a fair at his manor in Stony Stratford 
in 1257, to be held around the feast of St. Giles.  His son acquired not only 40 acres of 
land from John of Wolverton, but also a grant for an annual fair and a weekly market 
in 1290 (ibid, 58).  By 1792 there were three annual fairs, dwindling to only one by 
1888 (VCH 1927, 479). 

It is recorded that King John stayed in Stony Stratford in 1215, as did Edward I in 
1290 when the funeral cortege for his wife, Eleanor of Castile, processed to 
Westminster for burial.  It has been argued that in the absence of a monastic house to 
provide accommodation, the royal parties are likely to have stayed in inns (ibid, 73).  
The Eleanor Cross, erected in honour of Queen Eleanor, was destroyed in the 17th 
century.  The church of St Mary & St Giles is known to have originated as a chapel 
around 1202, possibly to serve travellers along Watling Street. 

By the time Edward IV came to Stony Stratford in 1464 there were several inns in the 
town including The Cock and The Bull (ibid, 133).  In 1520 the Cock Hotel was given 
to the town under Thomas Piggot’s will to set up a charity to fund the repair of the 
bridge and causeway over the river. The bridge was a major concern to the town as it 
had to be well maintained to ensure the trade on which the town had been built, 
namely as a commercial centre for the surrounding villages and a posting station for 
travellers. In 1801 the hotel was sold by the trustees of the charity set up by Thomas 
Piggot, raising £900 to maintain the road, which was carrying on average 35 coaches, 4 
wagons and 359 animals every day in the previous year (Brown 1987, 14). The old 
bridge collapsed under the weight of a heavy wagon and was replaced in 1835 along 
with a Toll House that survived just 22 years (ibid. 16) 

 
3.6 Post-Medieval & Modern (1500-present) 

There were two major fires in the town in the 18th century.  The first in 1736 destroyed 
53 houses and the second, only 6 years later, took the church and 113 houses with it 
(VCH 1927, 476).  The Cock Hotel is thought to have been rebuilt following this 
conflagration.  It was used for a number of local activities including the dance classes 
held by Joseph Hamblin, who also ran a ladies seminary at the corner of Market Street 
(Brown 1987, 42).  He is said to have been the model for the character of Mr 
Turveydrop in Charles Dickens’ Bleak House (Markham 1975, 145). 

Most of the existing structure of the church of St Mary & St Giles dates from the late 
18th century, though the Lady Chapel and present boiler room are of 20th-century date.  
19th-century maps of Stony Stratford show that, prior to the widening of Market Street 
(now Church Street), there were buildings, presumably shops or houses, on the north-
west side of the church in the area of the proposed extension, fronting the High Street 
and/or Market Street. 
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The arrival of the railway in the mid 19th century allowed a further service to develop 
from the hotel; a coach service between The Cock and Wolverton Station.  This was 
replaced by a tram in 1887, which carried up to 700 passengers per day.  Two of the 
wagons could be taken off the rails once the tram had reached Stony Stratford and be 
transported around town by horses.  The tram was used until 1926 (ibid. 199-201, 
203). 
 

3.7 Previous Archaeological Work 

In April 2008 ASC carried out an evaluation at St Mary and St Giles Church, to inform 
the proposed development (Richards 2008).  A brick lined well and a stone lined cess-
pit, containing a substantial assemblage of 19th century artefacts were revealed.  A 
north-south aligned wall was also observed bounding a compacted sand floor layer 
found to overlie a broken, reused gravestone and a deposit of dark soil containing 
fragments of pottery of medieval to 18th century date.  These features were interpreted 
as the remains of one of the buildings shown on the 1st Edition OS map of 1880.  No 
archaeological features predating the 18th century were observed. 
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4. Results 

4.1 The mechanical and hand excavation of the footing trench, associated services and 
pathway were monitored.   

 
 The stratigraphy observed consisted of c.0.9m max of made-ground comprising mid 

brown, friable, silty clay with moderate small sub-angular stones.  The natural strata 
was not breached. 

 
4.2 Ground Reduction and Footing trench 

 An area of c.91.50 sq. m was reduced to a depth of c.0.5m max within the footprint of 
the new development.  Towards the centre of this the outline of the demolished 20th 
century boiler room was visible (Plate 1).  
 
Towards the northeast end of the area disarticulated human remains comprising a skull 
and pelvis were uncovered.  Towards the northwest end of the boiler room, a 
disarticulate skull was uncovered.  The remainder of the area revealed few 
disarticulated human bone fragments along with post-medieval glass and pottery 
fragments.  These were retained by the church. A possible post-medieval pit was also 
uncovered towards the northeast end of the area.  This was heavily truncated by the 
mechanical excavator and was deemed to be of little significance. 

 
 The footing trench (Fig. 4; Plate 2 & 3) measured between 0.6-0.8m wide, dug to a 

depth between 0.53-0.80m BGL (below ground level), within made-ground.  A 
disarticulated human skull, adult male, was uncovered c.0.70m BGL within the 
northeast corner of the footing trench.  Further disarticulated human remains were 
recovered within the northwest section of the footing trench. 

 
 The southeast section of the footing trench exposed the church foundations (Plate 4).  

The footings comprised extended to a depth of c.0.23m BGL, underlying which was 
c.0.23m max of mottled light brown/yellow friable silty sand, beneath which were 
either two courses of unbonded sandstone c.0.26m in depth or made-ground of mid 
brown, friable silty clay. 

 
4.3 Associated Services and Pathway 

 The majority of the associated services were excavated within the footing trench or 
 tapped into known services within disturbed ground.  One service trench was 
 observed towards the northeast end of the new build area (Fig. 4; Plate 5).  The trench 
was orientated southwest-northeast and measured c.2m in length cut to a depth of 
c.0.2m into made-ground, uncovering one disarticulated human bone. 
 
 The hand excavation of a pathway to the northwest and south of the new extension 
was partly observed (Fig. 4; Plate 6).  The observed area measured c.15.50 sq. m cut to 
a maximum depth of c.0.2m BGL within made-ground containing few disarticulated 
human remains, tile fragments, animal bone, clay pipe stems and a sherd of 19th 
century ‘willow-pattern’ pottery. All were retained by the church.  A service trench 
was also hand excavated across the observed area to a depth of c.0.9m BGL, following 
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the line of a known service trench through made/disturbed ground.  The pathway 
continued further to the south to a maximum depth of 150mm. 

 
 

 

Plate 1:  Ground reduction and outline of boiler room, looking southeast (scale 1×1m)   
 
 

 

Plate 2:  Northwest side of footing trench, looking northeast (scale 2×1m)   
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Plate 3:  Southeast facing section of northwest side of footing trench (scale 1×1m)   
 
 

 

Plate 4:  Northwest facing section of church footings (scale 1×1m)   
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Plate 5:  Service trench, looking east (scale 1×1m)   
 
 

 

Plate 6:  Pathway to the northwest of the new extension, looking northeast (scale 1×1m)   
 
  



St Mary & St Giles Church, Stony Stratford Watching Brief Report 
1295/SSC 

© ASC Ltd 2010  Page 15 

 

Figure 4:  Plan of footing trench, observed service trench and part of pathway (scale 1:200)   
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5. Conclusions 

5.1 The project uncovered little in the way of significant features, finds or deposits.  The 
 work entailed excavating through made/disturbed ground, partly related to the now 
 demolished 20th century boiler room.  Few disarticulated human remains were 
 uncovered, along with post-medieval pottery sherds including one sherd of 19th 
 century ‘willow-pattern’ pottery, glass and tile fragments, clay pipe stems and 
 animal bone fragments.  Such finds are most likely associated with the buildings 
 shown on the 1st Edition OS map of 1880 that were  identified in the 2008 evaluation.  

 
 It is clear from the watching brief that excavations for the footings of the demolished 

boiler room, and for related services, had previously truncated or removed any further 
evidence for earlier buildings in that area. 

 
5.2 Confidence Rating 

 The works were carried out with full co-operation of the client and in line with the 
 project design.  The results are therefore given a high confidence rating. 
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7. Archive 

7.1 The project archive will comprise:  

1. Project Design 
2. Initial Report 
3. Clients site plans 
4. Site Monitoring Sheets 
5. List of photographs 
6. B/W prints & negatives 
7. CDROM with copies of all digital files. 

 
7.2 The archive will be deposited with Buckinghamshire County Museum. 
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Appendix 1: Monitoring Sheets 
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Appendix 2: List of Photographs 

SITE NAME:  St Mary & St Giles’ Church, Stony Stratford, Milton Keynes SITE NO/CODE:  1296/SSC 

Shot  B&W Digital Subject 

1 � � Disarticulated bone in situ, looking south east (scale 0.2m) 
2 � � Post medieval pit, looking north east (scale 1m)  
3 � � Drain, looking north (scale 1m)  
4  � Drain, looking north 
5  � Former footings, looking south east (scale 1m)  
6  � Working shot, looking south (scale 1m)  
7 � � Evaluation trench, looking south east (scale 1m)  
8  � General site shot, looking north east (scale 1m) 
9  � General site shot, looking south east (scale 1m) 
10  � General site shot, looking south east (scale 1m) 
11  � Skull fragment (scale 0.2m)  
12  � Skull fragment (scale 0.2m)  
13  � Pelvis fragment (scale 0.2m)  
14  � Maxilla fragment (scale 0.2m) 
15  � Footing trench section, looking south west (scale 1m)  
16 � � Footing trench section, looking south west (scale 1m)  
17  � Footing trench section, looking south west (scale 1m)  
18  � Footing trench, looking south west (scale 1m)  
19 � � Drainage trench, looking west (scale 1m)  
20  � Drainage trench, looking west (scale 1m)  
21  � Drainage trench, looking east (scale 1m)  
22 � � Footing trench section, looking north west (scale 1m)  
23 � � Footing trench, looking north east (scale 2x 1m) 
24 � � Church footings, looking southeast (scale  2x 1m) 
25 � � Church footings, looking southeast (scale 2x 1m) 
26  � Church footings, looking southeast  (scale 2x 1m) 
27  � Church footings, looking north east (scale 2x 1m) 
28  � Footing trench, looking north (scale 1m) 
29  � Footing trench, looking north east (scale 1m) 
30 � � Footing trench, looking north east (scale 2x 1m) 
31 � � Footing trench, looking north east (scale 2x 1m) 
32  � Pathway trench, north-west of the new extension (scale 1m)  
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Appendix 3: ASC OASIS Form 
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Stratford, Milton Keynes 

OASIS reference: archaeol2-89307 

Short Description: Between May and November 2010 Archaeological Services and Consultancy Ltd carried out a 

watching brief at St Mary & St Giles Church, Stony Stratford, Milton Keynes during the 

construction of an extension to the church.  Little in the way of significant features, finds or 

deposits were observed, as the work entailed excavating through made/disturbed ground.  A 

few disarticulated human remains were uncovered, along with post-medieval pottery sherds 

including one sherd of 19th century ‘willow-pattern’ pottery, glass and tile fragments, clay pipe 

stems and animal bone fragments.     

Project Type: Watching Brief 

Previous work: 
(eg. SMR refs) 

Yes (ASC: 960/SSC/2 - Evaluation) Site status:  
(eg. none, SAM, listed) 

Listed Grade B 

Current land use: Church garden Future work: 
(yes/no/unknown) 

Unknown 

Monument type: Church Monument period: Late 18th century 

Significant finds: 
(artefact type & period) 

Disarticulated human remains, 19th century pottery sherds, tile and glass fragments, clay pipe 

stems and animal bone – all retained by the church 

PROJECT LOCATION 

County: Buckinghamshire OS reference:  (8 figs min) SP 7869 4047 

Site address: 
(+ postcode if known) 

St Mary & St Giles’ Church, Stony Stratford, Milton Keynes, Buckinghamshire, MK11 1BD 
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